1996

Macris & Associates Inc v. Images & Attitude Inc : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is taken from a final Judgment dated September 14, 1995 and an earlier Order dated February 18, 1994 of the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah. This case was assigned to the Court of Appeals. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated Section 78-2a-3(k) (1995 Supp.).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

I. Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law in dismissing Images' claim for fraudulent inducement on the basis of *res judicata* (R. 284-86; 732, 1017, 1251). A trial court's grant of a motion for summary judgment is a matter of law which is reviewed for correctness. White v. Deseelhorst, 879 P.2d 1371, 1374 (Utah 1994) (citing Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort, 808 P.2d 1037, 1039 (Utah 1991); Hunsaker v. State, 870 P.2d 893, 896 (Utah 1993)).

II. Whether the trial court erroneously found that Michael Macris' activities in supplying nail gels directly to Images distributors and in commencing the organization of a competing company to Images, while President and the sole employee of Macris & Associates, were not attributable to Macris as an agent or representative of Macris & Associates, and whether the trial court erroneously concluded that Macris & Associates was not the alter ego of Michael Macris (R. 290-92, 4668-85, 4749-74, 4845-80, 4977-5094, 5526-83, 5611-12, 5614-21, 5626-27). A trial court's

findings of fact are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard while the court's conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. U.R.C.P. 52(a) (1995); Consolidation Coal Co. v. Utah Div. of State Lands, 886 P.2d 514, 519 (Utah 1994) (clearly erroneous standard); Pasker, Gould, Ames & Weaver, Inc. v. Morse, 887 P.2d 872, 875 (Utah App. 1994) (conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness); Smith v. Smith, 793 P.2d 407, 409 (Utah App. 1990).

III. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to allow Images to call William Crismon, a witness listed on both Plaintiff's and Defendant's witness list in Images' case in chief (R. 2611, 4921-40). This Court reviews a trial court's decision to exclude a witness under an abuse of discretion standard. "Excluding a witness from testifying is, however, 'extreme in nature and . . . should be employed only with caution and restraint.'" Barrett v. Denver & Rio Grande W.R., 830 P.2d 291, 293 (Utah App. 1992) (quoting Plonkey v. Superior, 475 P.2d 492, 494 (Ariz. 1970)).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,
ORDINANCES, AND RULES

The determinative statutes, rules and constitutional provisions are set forth in the addendum where not set forth fully in the body of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Complaint in this action was filed by Macris & Associates on April 17, 1991 alleging, among other claims, breach of an Addendum to Distributor Application ("Addendum"), and breach of the Distributor Application (the "Distributorship Agreement") (R. 8). Macris & Associates filed a Second Amended Complaint on the 9th of June, 1992 which likewise included claims for breach of the Addendum and breach of the Distributorship Agreement (R. 169).

Images filed an Answer, Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint on the 17th of June, 1991 (R. 52) and thereafter an Amended Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint on the 9th of September, 1992 against Macris & Associates and Michael Macris which included among other claims that Macris & Associates breached the agreements with Images; Macris & Associates was the alter ego of Michael Macris; and Michael Macris fraudulently induced Images into entering into the agreement with Macris & Associates (R. 293).

Prior to trial, Macris & Associates filed a motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of the fraudulent inducement claim supported by: (i) Macris & Associates, Inc.'s and Mike Macris' Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment Against Images & Attitude, Inc. and Thomas Mower Re: Fraudulent Inducement, Interference with Contractual and Economic Relations, Defamation and Breach of Contract (R. 661); and (ii) Macris & Associates, Inc.'s and Mike Macris' Reply Memorandum in Support of Their Motion For Summary Judgment for Images' Breach of Contract,

and in Support of their Motions for Summary Judgment Re: Alter Ego, Fraudulent Inducement, Interference with contractual and Economic Relations, Defamation and Breach of Contract (R. 811). Images opposed the motion for summary judgment as set forth in its (i) Memorandum in Opposition to Macris & Associates, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment against Images & Attitude, Inc., For Breach of Contract and in Opposition to Macris & Associates, Inc.'s and Mike Macris' Motion for Summary Judgment Against Images & Attitude, Inc. and Thomas Mower Re: Alter Ego, Fraudulent Inducement, Interference with Contractual and Economic Relations, Defamation, and Breach of Contract (R. 1017); and its Memorandum in Support of Defendants' Motion to Strike and in Opposition to Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Macris & Associates, Inc.'s and Mike Macris' Motion for Summary Judgment Re: Fraudulent Inducement (R. 1206).

After oral argument had been held on the matter, Macris & Associates filed a Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Macris & Associates, Inc.'s and Mike Macris' Motion for Summary Judgment Re: Fraudulent Inducement asserting that the claim was barred by the principles of *res judicata* on the basis that the arbitrator in the matter of Eclat, Inc. f/k/a Images v. Affinity, Inc., Consolidated Arbitration Case Nos. 81-81002693 and 81-181006092, in ruling on a motion for summary judgment, held that Images was not fraudulently induced into a contract with Affinity (R. 1191). In its supplemental memorandum, Macris & Associates reasoned that since the misrepresentations Images relied on in entering into the Addendum with Macris & Associates were essentially the same as the

misrepresentations which were the basis for Images' fraudulent misrepresentation claim against Affinity, Images' claim against Macris & Associates was *res judicata* notwithstanding the fact that the two different suits involved two separate contracts with two separate entities (Affinity and Macris & Associates) (R. 1180-1191). The trial court accepted Macris & Associates' reasoning, and on the 18th of February, 1994, entered an order dismissing Images' fraudulent inducement claim (R. 1251).

The remaining claims between Macris & Associates, Michael Macris, and Images came on for trial on February 16, 17, 21, 22, 24, and 27, and March 27, 1995. At trial, the court refused to allow Images to call a material witness in its case in chief, namely William Crismon, who was listed on both Images' and Macris & Associates' witness lists (R. 4932, 4940). The court made its determination based upon the fact that William Crismon was not listed in Images' responses to interrogatories submitted prior to the discovery cut-off date even though (i) Macris & Associates was on notice of the witness and the matters to which he would testify, (ii) William Crismon was already listed on Macris & Associates' witness list, and (iii) he was listed on Images' witness list submitted to the court over a month prior to the trial (R. 4921-40).

After the trial, the trial court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on the 14th of September, 1995 (R. 3060). Among the trial court's findings, the court found: Macris & Associates was active in promoting Images and Images products

from August 1989 through March 1991 (R. 3056); Macris & Associates fulfilled its responsibilities under the contract with Images (R. 3052); Images wrongfully terminated the Addendum with Macris & Associates (R. 3051); and Macris' activities in forming a competing company were not imputed to Macris & Associates (R. 3048). From the Findings of Fact, the trial court entered its Conclusions of Law which included: Macris & Associates performed according to all conditions of the contract between the parties (R. 3046); Images materially breached the contract between the parties when it suspended Macris & Associates' autoqualification (R. 3047); Images materially breached the contract between the parties when it ceased paying Macris & Associates (R. 3047); Macris & Associates is not the alter ego of Michael Macris, nor is Michael Macris the alter ego of Macris & Associates (R. 3046); and Macris & Associates did not materially breach the contract with Images (R. 3046).

The trial court then entered its Judgment against Images on the 14th of September, 1995 (R. 3064). It is from this Judgment as well as the partial summary judgment order entered on the 18th of February, 1994 that Images appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS

In 1989, Michael Macris ("Macris") was the President of two companies: Affinity Inc. ("Affinity"), a nail system manufacturing company of which Macris was the sole shareholder, director and employee; and Macris & Associates, Inc. ("Macris & Associates"), a marketing company of which Macris and his wife, Valerie

Macris, were the only directors and shareholders at that time and Macris was the only employee (R. 4668-69, 4842, 4859, 4861). In the spring of 1989, Macris approached Images & Attitude, Inc. ("Images")--a multi-level marketing company which markets health and beauty products--through its President, Thomas Mower ("Mower"), concerning the possibility of Images marketing a nail care system manufactured by Affinity. Macris also represented to Mower that Macris was interested in participating in Images as a distributor of Images products. (R. 5154-55).

In the course of negotiating contracts between Affinity and Images, and between Macris & Associates and Images, and as an inducement to Images to enter into the contracts, Macris represented to Mower that Macris had obtained a state of the art nail gel which had been developed by a Dr. Lyman, who was a scientist with the University of Utah (R. 1047, 5176). In reliance upon this false representation and other misrepresentations by Macris, Images entered into a contract with Affinity in June of 1989 for the purchase of nail gels and lamp housings to be used in the assembly by Images of a nail care kit (R. 1046-47).

On or about the 7th of August, 1989, Macris applied for an Images Distributorship under the name, Macris & Associates (R. 4669). In the course of negotiating a distributorship for Macris, Macris indicated he had approximately two million dollars worth of advertising for the nail kits already in place, and he offered a proposal to Mower whereby the National Enquirer would run a full story on the nail care system which included nail gel developed by

Dr. Lyman and Macris would sign up the prospective distributors. In exchange, Images would automatically qualify Macris' distributorship to the level of Presidential--meaning that Images would pay bonuses to Macris as if his distributorship had reached the Presidential level even though it had not (R. 793-96).

Macris also represented that he had several "big-hitters" in multi-level marketing, including Hayden and Joanne Cameron and Margie Hunsaker, who would also be willing to sign up as distributors, if they could be "autoqualified" at the Presidential level as well (R. 5160-63). Macris suggested that by autoqualifying the three distributors at the Executive level, they would be free to pursue the thousands of leads that would come from the National Enquirer ad without the distractions of meeting monthly sales requirements (R. 5162).

In reliance upon the representations of Macris, Images agreed to enter into an Addendum to Distributor Application ("Addendum") whereby Macris & Associates would be "autoqualified" at the Executive level as long as Macris & Associates was "active in promoting Images and Images products." (R. 794, 5176, Trial Exhibit 1). The stated objective of the Addendum was for Macris & Associates to ultimately "develop each distributorship according to the width projects of the Images marketing plan." (Trial Exhibit 2). The Images marketing plan required a distributor to have twelve front-line qualified executive distributors in order to qualify at the Presidential level (R. 4675). Two identical Addenda

were negotiated by Macris and entered into by Images with the Camerons and Margie Hunsaker (Trial Exhibits 3 and 4).

At approximately the time Images entered into Addendum agreements with Macris & Associates, the Camerons, and Hunsaker, Macris signed the Cameron distributorship directly frontlined to Macris & Associates, and the Hunsaker distributorship was signed up under the Cameron distributorship (R. 5098, Trial Exhibit 3). From the time the Macris & Associates Addendum was executed until Images terminated Macris & Associates autoqualification status, Macris & Associates had not signed up a single distributorship frontlined to Macris & Associates other than the MacGregor and Cameron distributorships in August of 1989 (R. 4912, 5212).

In approximately the summer of 1990, Images distributors began experiencing irritation as a result of the nail gel (R. 5223). During this period, Hayden Cameron discovered that Dr. Lyman was not in fact the developer of the nail gel sold to Images by Affinity. At that point, Hayden Cameron refused to run an ad to market the nail care product through the National Enquirer or any other national magazines. (R. 5104-06).

In approximately the fall of 1990 and while Macris was the President and sole employee of Macris & Associates, Macris began providing other Images distributors with sample nail gels for testing purposes, which gels later became the primary product for a newly organized and competing company (R. 4681, 4683, 4774, 4845). Images repeatedly instructed Macris that he should cease testing gels on Images distributors and that such conduct consti-

tuted a breach of Images policies and procedures (R. 5051, Trial Exhibits 12, 39, 55). Not later than February of 1991 and while President and sole employee of Macris & Associates, Macris began his efforts to form a multilevel marketing company to market nail care systems in direct competition with Images (R. 5611). This company was eventually called Emily Star, Inc. d/b/a Emily Rose (R. 4752, 5110).

On or about the 7th of March, 1991, Images terminated Macris & Associates' autoqualification status for failure to remain active in building the Macris & Associates distributorship (Trial Exhibit 8, R. 4684). Thereafter, Images terminated the entire Macris & Associates distributorship for inactivity, for gel testing, and for competitive activities. Macris & Associates responded by commencing this action (R. 8).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Appellant Images asserts that the trial court committed reversible error in no less than three instances in this litigation. First, the trial court erred when it granted Macris & Associates' Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of *res judicata*. Next, the trial court erroneously found that the acts of Michael Macris were not attributable to Macris & Associates and that Macris & Associates was not the alter ego of Michael Macris. Finally, the trial court erred at trial when it excluded a witness from testifying in Images' case in chief.

Regarding Images' first assignment of error, Images asserts that the collateral estoppel branch of the doctrine of *res judicata* did not apply to bar Images' fraudulent inducement claim against Macris & Associates. The issue actually considered in the prior arbitration proceeding was whether Michael Macris' misrepresentations regarding the role of Dr. Lyman in developing Macris' nail gel induced Images into entering into a contract with Affinity. The issues presented in this case were whether Michael Macris' misrepresentations regarding the role of Dr. Lyman and his misrepresentations regarding advertising and Macris' ability to bring in "big-hitters" induced Images into entering into a contract with Macris & Associates. The issues were not identical. Nor was Images afforded an opportunity for competent, full, and fair litigation of the issues in the earlier arbitration proceedings.¹ Accordingly, collateral estoppel did not apply and the trial court erred in entering summary judgment against Images on that basis.

Images' second assignment of error relates to the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law which erroneously found and concluded that Michael Macris was not acting as an agent for Macris & Associates when he engaged in disruptive, competitive and inappropriate behavior, that the acts of Macris were not attributable to Macris & Associates, and that Macris & Associates was not the alter ego of Michael Macris. The marshaled evidence including all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom are insuffi-

¹Actually, the arbiter improperly made factual determinations on the Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 1195-98).

cient to support the trial court's findings. Instead, the evidence overwhelmingly supports Images' assertions that the acts of Macris are attributable to Macris & Associates, or alternatively, that Macris & Associates is the alter ego of Michael Macris. Additionally, to the extent that the trial court's conclusions of law are based upon its erroneous findings of fact, they too are incorrect. Had the trial court correctly concluded that the disruptive, improper, and competitive activities of Michael Macris are attributable to Macris & Associates, or alternatively that Macris & Associates was the alter ego of Michael Macris, it would have necessarily concluded that Macris & Associates first breached the agreement with Images by engaging in such disruptive, improper, and competitive conduct. Accordingly, Images has been prejudiced by the trial court's erroneous findings of fact and conclusions of law.

Concerning Images' final assignment of error, the trial court abused its discretion when it excluded William Crismon from testifying at the trial of this matter. William Crismon was added to Images' final witness list which was submitted to the Court and to opposing counsel over one month in advance of trial. Mr. Crismon was already listed on Macris & Associates' witness list and had been deposed by Images three and one-half months prior to trial. There was no judicially imposed deadline for submitting witness lists in this case. On the contrary, the trial court had earlier entered an order based upon the parties' stipulation specifically stating that the parties' witness lists could be

supplemented. The law in Utah is clear. It is an abuse of discretion for a trial court to exclude a witness from testifying at trial when no deadline for designating witnesses was imposed by the trial court.

The numerous errors of the trial court in this case mandate that its Judgment be overturned and remanded to the trial court for a new trial on the issues contained in Images' Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint and Images' affirmative defenses against Macris & Associates' Complaint.

ARGUMENT

Images asserts that the trial court committed at least three errors which were substantial, prejudicial, and adversely effected the outcome of trial; namely, that (i) the trial court erred in granting Macris & Associates' motion for summary judgment on the issue of fraudulent inducement; (ii) the trial court erred in concluding that Macris' competitive and improper acts were not attributable to Macris & Associates, or alternatively, that Macris & Associates was not the alter ego of Michael Macris; and (iii) the trial court erroneously excluded relevant testimony of certain witnesses at trial. Based upon these errors, the Judgment should be reversed as a matter of law, or the case should be remanded for a new trial on these issues.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN DISMISSING IMAGES' CLAIM FOR FRAUDULENT INDUCEMENT ON THE BASIS OF *RES JUDICATA*.

The trial court entered summary judgment on Defendant's fraudulent inducement claim based upon the doctrine of *res judicata*. "Summary judgment is proper only when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Cook v. Zions First Nat'l Bank, 293 Utah Adv. Rep. 8, 9 (Utah App. 1996); Larsen v. Allstate Ins. Co., 857 P.2d 263, 265 (Utah App. 1993). Since summary judgments are decided as questions of law, this Court should "accord no deference to the trial court's determinations and review the issues under a correctness standard." Id. Furthermore, where this review involves a summary judgment, this Court should "view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." De Baritault v. Salt Lake City Corp. 913 P.2d 743, 744 (Utah 1996) (quoting Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993)); Malone v. Parker, 826 P.2d 132, 133 (Utah 1992).

Images' Amended Counterclaim and Third Party Complaint alleged a cause of action against Macris & Associates and Mike Macris ("Macris") for fraudulent inducement based upon several statements made by Macris to Images' President, Thomas Mower ("Mower"). These statements included the following: (i) that Macris had developed a nail gel and nail preparation for a fingernail bonding system with Dr. Donald Lyman of the University

of Utah; and (ii) that Macris had advertising already in place to promote the fingernail bonding system, which advertising was worth approximately 2.5 million dollars (R. 285, 795).²

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