1996

Macris & Associates Inc v. Images & Attitude Inc : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Images has raised three principal issues on appeal. Only one of Images' arguments was properly preserved for appeal before the lower court, and none of the contentions has merit, either legally or factually.

The trial court's ruling that Images is barred from asserting fraudulent inducement claims because of collateral estoppel or issue preclusion should be affirmed for a number of reasons. First, Images never argued to the trial court that the fraudulent inducement issues in the Affinity Arbitration were

⁹ The Judgment is attached to the Appendix as Exhibit 3.

different than those in the M&A Litigation and has thus waived that objection. Second, contrary to the contentions now made on appeal, Images has repeatedly and consistently contended that the same misrepresentations induced it to enter into both the Affinity Contract and the M&A Contract; thus, Images had the opportunity to fully litigate all claims of fraudulent inducement. Third, the arbitrator decided that there were no material misrepresentations upon which Images reasonably relied. Fourth, the "big hitter" representation, which was not timely presented to the lower court, cannot even be the basis of a fraud claim. Fifth, Images does not contend that it was denied the opportunity to present affidavits or arguments to the arbitrator prior to his ruling on Affinity's motion for summary judgment on the fraudulent inducement issue. Thus, Images had a full, fair and complete opportunity to present its arguments regarding fraudulent inducement and is now collaterally estopped from raising the fraudulent inducement issue against M&A.

The trial court's findings that Macris was not acting as the agent of M&A when he started another network marketing company, Emily Rose, Inc., or engaged in other unspecified acts and/or that M&A was not the "alter ego" of Macris should be affirmed. In challenging those findings, Images fails to marshal the substantial evidence supporting the trial court's rulings. Moreover, Images' arguments ignore other unchallenged findings

which render the alter ego/agency question moot, i.e. that Images materially breached its contract with M&A and that because of that prior material breach, Macris, M&A, Emily Rose, Inc. or any other entity with which Macris may have been associated was free to compete directly with Images.

Finally, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the testimony of William Crismon. The record is clear that Crismon, as well as six other witnesses, were precluded from testifying at trial as a discovery sanction resulting from Images' failure to identify them in response to a court order until a month after the discovery cut-off date. Despite that ruling, the trial court later allowed at least three of the four remaining witnesses to testify on rebuttal. There is nothing in the record indicating that Images' proffered William Crismon's testimony to the lower court or explained why his testimony would add anything to the testimony of Thomas Crismon, his brother and business partner, who did provide testimony.

For these reasons, as more fully addressed herein, the trial court's rulings should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED THE DOCTRINE OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL TO DISMISS IMAGES' FRAUDULENT INDUCEMENT COUNTERCLAIM

A The "Correctness" Standard Of Review Only Applies To Matters Properly Before This Court

Images contends that the trial court's summary judgment finding should be reviewed under "a correctness standard," and that "the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom" should be viewed "in the light most favorable to" Images. Appellant's Brief at 14. However, the "correctness standard" applies only to those issues which Images properly raised before the trial court. Images may not ask this Court to reverse the trial court on the basis of an issue raised for the first time on appeal. See Rocky Mt Thrift v Salt Lake City Corp, 887 P.2d 848, 850 (Utah 1994) (refusing to consider new negligence theories which "were not raised before the trial court and may not now be raised"), Cowen and Co v Atlas Stock Transfer Co, 695 P.2d 109, 113-14 (Utah 1984) (on an appeal from summary judgment, the appellant may not "raise issues that were not raised to the trial court and proffer facts to support those issues on appeal"). Likewise, the "all reasonable inferences" standard applies only to those facts which were properly in the record before the trial court at the time it ruled on the collateral estoppel issue. Govert Copier Painting v Van Leeuwen, 801 P 2d 163, 170 (Utah App 1990) ("We will not

consider facts on appeal when there is no record the trial judge had access to those facts when deciding the motion at issue."); Seare v. University of Utah School of Medicine, 882 P.2d 673, 676 n.4 (Utah App. 1994) ("[I]n reviewing an order granting summary judgment 'we consider only the pleadings, depositions, admissions, answers to interrogatories, and affidavits properly before the trial judge.'" (citation omitted)).

As demonstrated below, only one of Images' three arguments regarding collateral estoppel was ever raised with the trial court, and thereby properly preserved for appeal; that argument, however, lacks any legal merit. Images' remaining two arguments are raised for the first time on appeal, are predicated on facts that were not part of the record before the trial court, and ignore the law of collateral estoppel.

B. Images Is Barred From Raising Arguments On Appeal Which It Failed To Present To The Lower Court.

Images now asserts that there were two fraudulent misrepresentations inducing the M&A Contract which were different from the fraudulent inducement claims in the Affinity Arbitration: (1) the National Enquirer advertising and (2) some vague references to Macris' "ability to bring in 'big hitters.'" See, e.g., Appellant's Brief at p. 11. Thus, Images argues that the trial court erred in applying collateral estoppel. See Appellant's Brief at pp. 17-19, 21-22. Images, however, never raised this argument in any pleading, in any affidavit, or in any

interrogatory answer. Most importantly, in its opposition papers to M&A's argument that the fraudulent inducement claim was barred by collateral estoppel, Images never advised the lower court that the fraudulent inducement issues were allegedly different. Accordingly, it is not surprising that Images has violated Utah Rule 24(a)(5)(A) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure by not citing where in the record this alleged error was preserved.

1. Images may not question, for the first time on this appeal, whether or not the alleged fraudulent inducement issues in the two proceedings were identical.

By failing to give the trial court the opportunity to rule on the question of whether the fraudulent inducement issues were the same in the Affinity Arbitration and the M&A Litigation, Images failed to preserve it for appeal. See Rocky Mt., 887 P.2d at 850 (issues not raised before the trial court may not be raised on appeal); Cowen, 695 P.2d 109 at 113-14 (Utah 1984) (appellant from summary judgment may not "raise issues that were not raised to the trial court and proffer facts to support those issues on appeal"); see also Aldrich and Steinberger v. Martin, 837 P.2d 1180, 1182 (Ariz. App. Div. 2 1992) (The fact that the doctrine of collateral estoppel was before the trial court "does not preserve for review any and all aspects of [that] doctrine[] that [the appellant] chooses to raise on appeal. Only the theory expressly raised, that of privity, was properly preserved for appeal."); Delisle v. Avallone, 874 P.2d 1266, 1270 (N.M. App.

1994) (Because party against whom collateral estoppel was asserted "did not claim absence of a full and fair opportunity, the issue was not preserved in the proceedings below," and could not be argued on appeal.) .

Therefore, even if there were any merit to Images' argument regarding whether or not the fraudulent inducement issues in the two proceedings were different (and as demonstrated below, there is no merit to Images' argument), Images may not seek to have the trial court reversed on the basis of such an argument raised for the first time on appeal.

2. Images may not seek to have the trial court reversed on the basis of newly asserted facts which were either absent from, or directly contradictory to, the record before the trial court.

Images also attempts to support its argument by asserting facts to this Court which were not before the lower court at the time it granted summary judgment dismissing the fraudulent inducement claims. Images attempts to create the illusion of two differences between the fraudulent inducement issues in the two proceedings. First, it asserts that the alleged "big hitter" misrepresentation was at issue in the M&A Litigation, but not in the Affinity Arbitration. However, Images' allegation that Macris had made the "big hitter" statement did not appear in the case below until long after the trial court had already ruled on M&A's collateral estoppel

summary judgment motion. "[T]here is no record the trial judge had access to [this alleged fact] when deciding the motion at issue," and Images may not ask this Court to reverse the trial court on the basis of an untimely disclosed "fact." See Govert Copier Painting, 801 P.2d at 170.

Second, Images asserts that Macris' supposed representation regarding advertising in the National Enquirer was not made until after the Affinity Contract had been executed, and that this alleged representation was not at issue in the Affinity Arbitration, but only in the M&A Litigation. Appellant's Brief at 7, 11, 15, 17, and 21. However, this assertion actually *contradicts* the record before the lower court and cited above, where Images repeatedly contended that the alleged representation regarding advertising in the National Enquirer was made prior to the execution of either contract, and was an inducement to both. Because this Court "consider[s] only the pleadings, depositions, admissions, answers to interrogatories, and affidavits properly before the trial judge" when reviewing the trial court's entry of summary judgment, see Seare, 882 P.2d at 676 n.4, Images clearly cannot argue for reversal based upon facts absent from and contradictory to the record before the trial court.

3. Images may not rely upon a newly alleged "big hitters" misrepresentation as a grounds for fraudulent inducement.

Images' "big hitter" contention should be rejected as being untimely presented. Even if it had been timely presented to the lower court, however, any such vague and indefinite claim should have been dismissed because it cannot, as a matter of law, support a claim for fraud. It is axiomatic that fraud requires a representation concerning a presently existing fact. See Dugan v. Jones, 615 P.2d 1239, 1246 (Utah 1980). A claim of fraud cannot be predicated upon expressions of opinion, unfulfilled predictions or expectations or erroneous conjectures as to future events.¹⁰ See Aloha Petroglyph v. Baldwin, Inc., 619 P.2d 518, 519 (Ha. App. 1980); Hall v. Romero, 685 P.2d 757, 760 (Ariz. App. 1984).

As a matter of law, a statement that Macris intended to bring in "big hitters" is not an expression of a presently existing fact which can support Images' fraudulent inducement claims, and is simply too vague a representation upon which

¹⁰ In fact, Macris did bring in "big hitters" as he represented, including Margie Hunsaker, Glenn Tillotson and the Camerons. The Hunsaker distributorship was the biggest and most successful downline organization among Images' distributors. See Findings at 11, 12, 13, 14 & 17.

Images could reasonably have relied.¹¹ Images' "big hitter" contention should be rejected.

4. Collateral estoppel bars Images from relitigating the fraudulent inducement issue.

As noted above, Images has always contended that Macris' alleged misrepresentations regarding Dr. Lyman's involvement with the nail systems and National Enquirer advertising induced it to enter into both the Affinity Contract and the M&A Contract. It now asserts, however, that the fraudulent inducement issue litigated in the Affinity Arbitration was different from the fraudulent inducement issue below in two respects. Images argues that in the Affinity Arbitration,

the issue was whether Images was fraudulently induced by virtue of the [alleged] misrepresentation into entering into the Affinity [C]ontract In the instant case, however, the issue to be litigated was whether Images was fraudulently induced into entering the Macris & Associates [Contract].

Appellant's Brief at 18.¹²

¹¹ Although M&A's argument on this point was not made previously because of the lateness in which Images has asserted its "big hitters" argument, this Court may properly consider it. An appellate court may affirm the trial court on any proper grounds, including grounds argued for the first time on appeal. See Buehner Block Co. v. UWC Assocs., 752 P.2d 892, 895 (Utah 1988).

¹² A diligent search of the record in this matter, reveals (a) no source document which can be reviewed to determine what precise misrepresentation claims may have been alleged in any pleading in the Affinity Arbitration; (b) no amendments to any such pleadings; (c) no deposition transcripts; (d) no transcripts of arguments, etc. In short, Images presented nothing to the

This language is phrased so broadly as to gloss over the required analysis. Images' causes of action in the two proceedings were of course different, but they shared a common constituent factual issue: whether Macris made any material misrepresentation for the purpose of inducing Images' reliance. The arbitrator in the Affinity Arbitration resolved that issue against Images by ruling that Macris had "made no misrepresentations of material facts to [Images] to induce [Images] to enter into the" Affinity Agreement.¹³ (R. 1197.) The trial court correctly held that this prior judgment collaterally estopped Images from relitigating this common issue, even in the context of a different cause of action. See Searle Bros. v. Searle, 588 P.2d 689, 690 (Utah 1978) (collateral estoppel prevents relitigation of issues resolved in a previous suit even though the first suit involved "a different cause of action").

lower court which supports its current contentions that the fraudulent misrepresentation issues were actually different in the two proceedings.

¹³ On appeal, Images criticizes the arbitrator's ruling by arguing that the ruling is unclear as to whether there were any representations, whether they were false, whether they were immaterial, or to which representations the arbitrator was referring. Appellate Brief at 18. Frankly, it makes no difference. If there was no misrepresentation, or a misrepresentation was immaterial, or if Images did not reasonably rely on any alleged misrepresentation as the arbitrator so held, there is no basis for a claim of fraudulent inducement.

Even if the Court were to accept the factual premise of Images' argument (for the sake of argument only), and assume that in the Affinity Arbitration Images failed to introduce some of the misrepresentations which it now alleges against Macris, that failure would not give Images license to relitigate the issue of fraudulent inducement. This is because, as a matter of law, collateral estoppel applies to "ultimate issues" such as fraudulent inducement, and not to mere "evidentiary facts" such as the particular representations which might be alleged in an attempt to establish fraudulent inducement. Therefore, because Images "did in fact litigate an issue of ultimate fact and suffered an adverse determination, new evidentiary facts may not be brought forward to obtain a different determination of that ultimate fact." Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 27 comment c (1982).

The distinction between "ultimate issues" and "evidentiary facts" is illustrated in the Restatement (Second) of Judgments as follows:

A brings an action against B to recover for personal injuries in an automobile accident. A seeks to establish that B was negligent in driving at an excessive rate of speed. After trial, verdict and judgment are given for B. In a subsequent action by B against A for injuries in the same accident, A is precluded from setting up B's negligence as a defense, whether or not the alleged negligence is based on an assertion of excessive speed. It is reasonable to require A to bring forward all evidence in support of

the alleged negligence in the initial proceeding.

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